I. INTRODUCTION & IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

More than three and a half years after King County voters

approved a nine-year excess property tax levy to replace the county's

ailing juvenile justice court and detention facilities with a new Children

and Family Justice Center ("CFJC"), Respondent End the Prison Industrial

Complex ("EPIC") filed this action challenging that vote by claiming

deficiencies in the ballot title. Despite the significant passage of time and

expenditure of millions of dollars by King County to implement the voter-

approved CFJC project, the Court of Appeals found EPIC's ballot title

challenge timely. That was error. Further, the Court of Appeals

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. EPIC failed to bring a ballot title challenge within the ten-day

statutoiy period allowed by RCW 29A.36.090, instead waiting over three

and a half years until after the levy passed and after King County had

spent tens of millions of dollars implementing the CFJC project. Did the

Court of Appeals err by holding that EPIC's suit is timely?

B. The ballot title at issue stated the initial amount of the excess levy,

that increases would be calculated pursuant to statute, and the nine-year

length of the levy. It specifically referenced the proposition to be voted

upon, which was fully reproduced in the voters' pamphlet. (1) Did the

Court of Appeals err by holding that RCW 84.55.050 requires that a 75-
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word ballot title contain detailed levy lid lift information when the

applicable statutory language refers to other materials that were before the

voters, including the text of Proposition 1? (2) Did the Court of Appeals

err by ignoring the ballot title language stating that the proposition would

authorize "an additional regular property tax for nine years" at a rate "of

$.07 per $1,000 of assessed valuation for collection in 2013" with

"[ijncreases in the following eight years ... subject to the limitations in

chapter 84.55 RCW" and referencing the terms of Ordinance 17304?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A, Basic Principles Underlying Excess Property Tax Levies.

The annual limit for rate increases in regular property tax levies is

1%. RCW 84.55.005(2)(c); CP 280. This limit is referred to as the levy

lid. When the need arises, a local government may ask voters to pass a

"levy lid lift," which allows it to collect additional or excess property

taxes beyond the 1% levy lid.

Although the nomenclature is confusing, RCW 84.55.050

establishes two distinct levy lid lift mechanisms. First, a local government

may seek a so-called "single-year levy lid lift" under RCW 84.55.050(1).

Contrary to its name, a single-year levy lid lift allows for collection of

excess property taxes for more than one year. The single-year levy lid lift,

allows a local government "to increase the maximum levy by more than

one percent for one year only. That amount is then used as a base to
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calculate all subsequent 1% levy limitations for the duration of the levy."

Levy Lid Lifts, MuN. Research Servs. Ctr. (Nov. 28, 2017).^ For

example, a vote on a nine-year "single-year lid lift" can authorize a levy of

$1 million in excess property taxes in year one that could then be

increased annually by 1 % in years two through nine. All parties agree that

this case presents a single-year levy lid lift under RCW 84.55.050(1).

In contrast, RCW 84.55.050(2) allows for a "multi-year levy lid

lift" where the base rate is lifted beyond the 1% limit in the first year, and

additional lifts beyond the 1% limit occur in each subsequent year. For

example, a vote on a nine-year "multi-year lid lift" might authorize a levy

of $1 million in excess property taxes in year one, which could then be

increased annually by more than 1% in years two thi'ough nine.

B. Proposition 1 Authorized a Nine-Year Levy Based On A
Single-Year Levy Lid Lift.

In 2012, the King County Council passed Ordinance 17304, which

submitted a single-year levy lid lift proposition to voters "concerning

funding for a replacement facility for the Children and Family Justice

Center." CP 85. The Ordinance, which was placed on the ballot as

Proposition 1, expressly authorized "a property tax levy in excess of the

levy limitation contained in chapter 84.55 RCW for a consecutive nine

year period." CP 80. Pursuant to RCW 29A.36.071(1), the King County

" http://mrsc.org/getdoc/2d6184c5-e55f-48e6-b7a6-d6262f342394/Levy-Lid-Lift.aspx;
see also RCW 84.55.050(1).
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Prosecuting Attorney drafted a ballot title for Proposition 1:

The King County council passed Ordinance No. 17304 concerning
a replacement facility for juvenile justice and family law services.
This proposition would authorize King County to levy an
additional property tax for nine years to fund capital costs to
replace the Children and Family Justice Center, which serves the
justice needs of children and families. It would authorize King
County to levy an additional regular property tax of $0.07 per
$1,000 of assessed valuation for collection in 2013. Increases in
the following eight years would be subject to the limitations in
chapter 84.55 RCW, all as provided in Ordinance No. 17304.

CP 367. RCW 29A.36.071(1) limits the ballot title to 75 words.^

The ballot title for Proposition 1 informed voters that they were

considering "an additional property tax for nine years" at a first year rate

of "$0.07 per $1,000 of assessed valuation" with "[ijncreases in the

following eight years ... subject to the limitations in chapter 84.55

RCW." CP 367 (emphasis added). The ballot title further informed voters

that the details of the levy lid lift were "all as provided in Ordinance No.

17304." CP 367. Ordinance 17304 was printed in full in the voters'

pamphlet. CP 283. Together, the ballot title for Proposition I and

Ordinance 17304 constituted the "ballot of the proposition" placed before

the voters, as required by RCW 84.55.050(1).

In August 2012, King County voters approved Proposition I,

which implemented Ordinance 17304 and authorized a nine-year excess

levy to build the new CFJC. CP 270. Based on voter approval, in

^ Ordinance 17304 contained a suggested ballot title, but that title exceeded the word
limit. CP 85.
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February 2015, the County entered into a $150 million design-build

contract to construct the CFJC and subsequently obtained project permits.

Decl. of Jim Burt in Supp. of Resp't's Resp. in Opp'n to Mot. for

Injunctive Relief Pending Appeal ("Burt Decl.") at ̂  4, 6-8. (Apr. 5,

2017).'* Construction is well underway with footings, foundations, and a

large construction crane occupying a substantial excavation. To date.

King County has expended tens of millions of dollars on the CFJC project.

Property taxes for the years 2013, 2014, and 2015 were calculated

and paid based on the additional property tax being in place for nine years.

CP 279-81. No protests were filed. Excess property taxes continue to be

collected pending a final judgment in this action.

C. EPIC Challenged the Vote on Proposition 1 More Than
Three and a Half Years After the Election,

In April 2016, more than three and a half years after voters

approved Proposition 1, EPIC brought this action claiming deficiencies in

the Proposition 1 ballot title. CP 1-16. EPIC claimed that the ballot title

did not comply with RCW 84.55.050's requirements.^ CP 7-9. EPIC

made no claims that the text of Proposition 1 itself, i.e., the Ordinance,

failed to comply with RCW 84.55.050, nor did it claim any constitutional

deficiencies. CP 1-16. On summary judgment, the superior court rejected

** This declaration is part of the Court of Appeals record, but King County has attached it
as Appendix C to this Petition for convenience of the Court.
' EPIC also alleged that the ballot title failed to adequately set forth the purpose of the
excess levy, a claim the Court of Appeals correctly rejected and on which King County
does not seek review. CP 6-7; EPIC, 200 Wn. App. at 628.
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epic's claims, ruling that EPIC's challenge to the sufficiency of the ballot

title was untimely and that the ballot title otherwise met the statutory

requirements of RCW 84.55.050. CP 477-78.

The Court of Appeals largely reversed. First, the Court of Appeals

concluded that EPIC was not challenging the ballot title and thus not

subject to the ten-day limitations period in RCW 29A.36.090. EPIC, 200

Wn. App. at 627. Second, the Court of Appeals held that the Proposition 1

ballot title failed to comply with RCW 84.55.050 because the ballot title

did not "expressly state" King County's methodology for calculating taxes

over the course of the nine-year levy duration, even though the required

language was contained in the text of Proposition 1 and was referenced in

the ballot title. Id. at 633-34. The Court of Appeals ultimately held that

the ballot title authorized excess levy colleetions only for one year,

thereby converting a $200 million voter-approved nine-year excess

property tax levy into a one-year $20 million levy.

King County filed a timely motion for reconsideration, which the

Court of Appeals denied. It now petitions this Court for review.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Permitting EPIC's Untimely Ballot Title Challenge Raises
Issnes of Substantial Public Interest and Conflicts With

This Court's Precedent.

The Court of Appeals permitted EPIC's challenge to the statutory

sufficiency of the ballot title to proceed some three and a half years after
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certification of the final election results. Such an approach effectively

allows invalidation of all or part of an election years after a vote, leaving

the will of the voters thwarted by an easily correctable, alleged statutory

deficiency in the ballot title. For a municipality, this leaves years of tax

collection, planning, and construction of public works projects subject to

upset for years after a vote, despite the expenditure of millions of dollars

towards completion of a project. The risk continues even after a project is

complete and otherwise paid for by the challenged levy.® Whether a

challenge to the statutory sufficiency of a ballot title must be brought

within the ten-day statutory period permitted under RCW 29A.36.090 or

promptly after an election—before millions of dollars are spent on a voter

approved project—is an issue of substantial public interest meriting

review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).^

RCW 29A.36.071 sets forth the requirements for formulation of

ballot titles. Here, the county prosecuting attorney has responsibility for

drafting a 75-word ballot title. RCW 29A.36.071(1). Within this word

limit, any ballot title must conform to the requirements of relevant

statutes, which in this case is RCW 84.55.050(1). RCW 29A.36.071(3).

Once the ballot title is drafted, RCW 29A.36.090 sets forth the

® Presumably the only limitation would be the three-year statutory period for seeking a
tax refund. 5ee RCW 84.69.030.

' King County recognizes that constitutional claims regarding ballot titles are
appropriately brought after the election. But no constitutional claims are at issue here.
Regardless, even with constitutional challenges, this Court has not sanctioned a three and
a half year delay in bringing such challenges.
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mandatory process for appealing the sufficieney of that title:

If any persons are dissatisfied with the ballot title for a local ballot
measure that was formulated by the . . . prosecuting attorney
preparing the same, they may at any time within ten days from
the time of the filing of the ballot title . .. appeal to the superior
court of the county where the question is to appear on the ballot, by
petition setting forth the measure, the ballot title objected to,
their objections to it, and praying for amendment of it.

(Emphasis added). A short limitations period for ballot title disputes

promotes the "speedy determination of election disputes" and "finality."

Kreidler v. Eikenberry, 111 Wn.2d 828, 834, 766 P.2d 438 (1989). It

prevents a useless vote on a statutorily infirm ballot title.

Here, the King County Prosecuting Attorney exercised his duty to

draft a ballot title of no more than 75 words that would meet the

requirements of ROW 84.55.050(1) for a single-year levy lid lift

proposition. Thus, any challenge alleging the failure of the ballot title to

meet those statutory requirements had to be brought within the ten-day

statutory period. See, e.g., Wash. Fed'n of State Emps. v. State, 127

Wn.2d 544, 560, 901 P.2d 1028 (1995) (upholding trial court

determination that challenge to statutory sufficiency of ballot title must be

brought within the statutory limitations period).

The Court of Appeals' opinion judieially creates a loophole to the

statutory process set forth in RCW 29A.36.071 - .090. In avoiding the

ten-day limitations period, the court used reasoning that turns the levy

approval process on its head. There was no dispute that the text of "Prop.

10
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1 authorized 'an additional property tax for nine years to fund capital costs

to replace the Children and Family Justice Center.'" EPIC, 200 Wn. App.

at 621. The Court of Appeals correctly summarized EPIC's core

contention that "the ballot title language approved by voters was

insufficient under RCW 84.55.050 to allow the County to use the Prop. 1

levy authorized for the first year as a base to compute the amount of levies

for subsequent years." Id. at 627-28 (emphasis added). At this point, the

Court of Appeals should have applied the ten-day limitations period and

ended its opinion affirmed. A challenge to the sufficiency of a ballot title

used to pass an otherwise constitutional ordinance is a "ballot title

challenge" under any reasonable interpretation of RCW 29A.36.090.

But the Court of Appeals missed this holding and proceeded one

step further to effectively re-write the Ordinance to conform with the

allegedly insufficient ballot title. The Opinion turns the Ordinance's nine-

year excess levy into a one-year levy based on the court's misreading of

the ballot title. Reforming an ordinance to reflect a ballot title exceeds any

recognized judicial authority, especially three and a half years after the

vote. The lower appellate court shook the tail to wag the dog.

Enforcement of the ten-day limitations period for ballot titles

serves a crucial function for elections. RCW 29A.36.090 imposes an

affirmative obligation on any person who is dissatisfied with a ballot

title—including EPIC—to come forward immediately. It is a "speak now

II
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or forever hold your peace" statute. Allowing parties to avoid the ten-day

limit to challenge and rewrite a proposition years after adoption by the

voters raises serious and substantial questions of public interest that merit

this Court's review.

Review is also merited under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the EPIC

Opinion conflicts with this Court's precedent. Most notably, in Lopp, 90

Wn.2d at 755-57, this Court rejected as untimely a post-election challenge

to a school district's sale of general obligation bonds based on an alleged

violation of the Open Public Meetings Act in a pre-election board meeting

that approved the ballot title for the bond measure. The measure passed

and the plaintiff brought suit one month after the bond election. Id. at

759. This Court deemed the one month delay "unreasonable." Id. at 761.

Here, EPIC's challenge was more than three and a half years after

the election. Like the challenger in Lopp, EPIC failed to provide notice of

the alleged statutory violation before the election when any problem with

the ballot title could have been fixed and a useless election avoided.

Similarly, the Lopp Court noted that increased constioiction costs

and construction delay, as well as difficulties in the bond market, would

result from plaintiff s untimely challenge. Id. at 756-57, 761. Here, there

have been even more significant "changes in conditions" between the

2012 election and the filing of the EPIC lawsuit in 2016, including King

County's execution of a $150 million design-build contract and substantial

12
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expenditures on construction. The possible elimination of $ 180 million

worth of voter-approved excess levy funds has a substantial impact on the

King County purse. To build the CFJC, King County may have to look to

its general fund, which supports many other important programs, or face

millions of dollars in costs if forced to suspend or terminate the design-

build contract.

In sum, this Court should grant review to determine whether non-

constitutional challenges to the ballot title of voter-approved property tax

levy propositions can be made more than three and a half years after the

election. Levy propositions past and present will be impacted by

resolution of this important question.

B. The Court of Appeals' Incorrect Interpretation of RCW
84.55.050 Raises Issues of Substantial Public Interest and

Conflicts with This Court's Precedent.

1. The Court of Appeals Misinterpreted RCW 84.55.050 By
Examining Only the Ballot Title for Levy Lid Lift Details.

Depending on the type of levy lid lift requested, RCW 84.55.050

requires that voters be provided with relevant information about the levy

lid lift and specifies where that information must appear in the voters'

materials, including possible placement in the "proposition," the ballot

"title," and/or the "ballot of the proposition" (both the proposition and the

ballot title). Despite specific statutory language, the EPIC Opinion holds

that RCW 84.55.050 mandates all the required information to be included

13
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in the 75-word ballot title. This was error, and the resulting substantial

impacts on King County and its voters (invalidating a public vote) are

sufficient to warrant this Court's review.

Moreover, review is warranted because the consequences of the

EPIC Opinion extend far beyond the CFJC levy. Many other

jurisdictions, relying on Washington Department of Revenue ("DOR")

guidance, have passed excess levies using similar language. Those levies

are now potentially subject to challenge, thereby jeopardizing hundreds of

millions of dollars in ongoing public projects and effectively invalidating

the voters' will to enact excess property taxes. The proper interpretation

of ROW 84.55.050 is a matter of substantial public interest as many

Washington jurisdictions have and will place levy lid lift propositions on

the ballot and need guidance from this Court as to the proper method of

doing so.

King County's levy lid lift request was brought under the "single-

year" levy lid lift provision of RCW 84.55.050(1), which requftes that

"[t]he ballot of the proposition shall state the dollar rate proposed and

Copies of 19 ballot titles with similar language are attached as Appendix D to this
Petition. Two of these ballot titles are already in the record. CP 467, 472. Concurrent
with this filing, King County has moved for judicial notice and in the alternative to
expand the appellate record to include the 17 other ballot titles under RAP 9.11. Each
ballot title states only the first year tax rate and the number of years of the levy, which is
all that has been traditionally required. See Levy Lid Lifts, supra,
http://mrsc.org/getdoc/2d6184c5-e55f-48e6-b7a6-d6262f342394/Levy-Lid-Lift.aspx
(temporary single-year lid lift ballot measure requirements include only "the maximum
tax rate to be imposed in the first year," "the total duration of the levy (number of
years)," and a maximum of "75 words" (emphasis omitted)).

14
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shall clearly state the conditions, if any, which are applicable under

subsection (4) of this section." (Emphasis added). Under RCW

84.55.050(3), if a levy lid increase is to be used as a permanent base for

future levies, such information must be included in the "ballot

proposition." (Emphasis added). RCW 84.55.050(4) provides, "[i]f

expressly stated, a proposition placed before the voters" may use the

dollar amount of the increased levy to compute statutory limitations going

forward, limit the period of the increased levy, and limit the use of the

levy (Emphasis added). Finally, in RCW 84.55.050(5), subsequent levies

are computed based on what is "expressly stated in an approved ballot

measure under this section." (Emphasis added).

The statute thus employs several distinct terms to indicate where

differing pieces of information must reside in the materials considered by

a voter. Of great importance to this appeal, RCW 84.55.050(2)—which

applies solely to "multi-year levy lid lifts"—is the only place in the statute

where the Legislature requires special voter information to be included in

a ballot title. This section, which does not apply to Proposition 1,

mandates that the "title of each ballot measure must state the limited

purposes" of the levy, while allowing other information to be included in

the broader "ballot proposition." RCW 84.55.050(2)(a) (emphasis added).

Inexplicably, the EPIC Opinion overlooks the Legislature's use of

distinct statutory terms and holds that "RCW 84.55.050(3), (4)(a), and (5)

15
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require that in order to compute limitations for 'subsequent levies' using

the dollar amount of a levy authorized by a proposition, the proposition's

ballot title must have 'expressly state[d]' so." EPIC, 200 Wn. App. at

632 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals simply misreads the statute.

None of the subsections cited by the court, including the RCW

84.55.050(1) mechanism utilized by Proposition 1, contain the term

"ballot title," let alone any requirement to place special information in the

"ballot title."

The Court of Appeals' holding thus violates straightfoiward

canons of statutory construction. Because the Legislature used different

teiTns within each subsection of RCW 84.55.050, the Legislature

necessarily intended these terms to have different meanings. Densley v.

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