FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/12/2018 3:49 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95307-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

END PRISON INDUSTRIAL COMPLEX,

Respondent,

v.

KING COUNTY,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Knoll Lowney, WSBA #23457 Claire Tonry, WSBA #44497 Smith & Lowney, PLLC 2317 E. John St. Seattle, WA 98112 (206) 860-2883

Attorney for Respondent EPIC

I. INTRODUCTION.

This is not a case that will have broad impacts and therefore raise issues with substantial public interest, as King County argues. Rather, this is a case where a single county ignored the clear statutory mandates in chapter 84.55 RCW and thereby illegally over-taxed its property owners. The Court of Appeals' published opinion ("Opinion") simply tells King County (the "County") that it is not above the law.

The Opinion does not change the law and is not worthy of this Court's review. It merely confirms that RCW 84.55.010 and .050 mean what they say. In 2008, the Legislature adopted emergency legislation amending RCW 84.55.050 to outlaw the methodology that the County is presently using to implement King County Proposition 1 ("Prop. 1"). Few statutes are so urgent in protecting taxpayers and voters. *Four times* RCW 84.55.050 requires the County to tell voters "clearly" and "expressly" that the methodology at issue would be used, or else it is prohibited.

The language of each of these passages is clear that the required disclosures must be in the ballot title. This disclosure requirement is stated emphatically because the methodology in question has a major impact on voters' pocketbooks. Using a "single-year" lid lift to calculate future levy limits has the effect of *permanently* increasing property tax levies, although governments may add a limited duration to that increase.

The 2008 emergency legislation rightly determined that voters have a right to learn in the ballot title both the proposed dollar rate of the increase and whether it would be used to inflate future levies.

The County previously acknowledged that these disclosures must be on the ballot, and it even prepared a proposed ballot title that would have permitted its current level of taxation. But the County did not use that ballot title. Consequently, the voter-approved ballot – the one that matters – does not permit the County's current level of taxation.

The County's new fallback argument is that statutorily required disclosure can be buried in the text of the ordinance rather than appear on the ballot itself. That argument cannot be squared with the statute and would effectively repeal *all* of the ballot requirements, entitling voters to no information whatsoever on the ballot. Nor would that argument change the outcome, since the County's Ordinance also did not disclose that the otherwise-prohibited methodology would be used.

The "substantial public interest" criteria of RAP 13.4(b)(4) is not met where the opinion below merely confirms that a government should comply with the law. The Opinion also followed well-established law in finding that a pre-election ballot title appeal is not a pre-requisite to a later action seeking to enforce tax laws, which is obviously correct given the limited scope and relief, and lack of appellate review, in that procedure.

This is not a situation where accepting review would even provide the County relief, since this Court cannot ignore unambiguous statutory safeguard for taxpayers and voters. Nor is it a case that involves novel issues with statewide importance like *Chemical Bank. v. Washington*Public Power Supply System, 99 Wn.2d 772, 666 P.2d 329 (1983)

(protecting numerous cities by invalidating bonds based upon limited municipal authority) or Clean v. State, 130 Wn.2d 782, 928 P.2d 1054 (1996) (limiting constitutional prohibition of gifting and lending of public funds). The case is so clear that Division II denied reconsideration without even requiring briefing. It is not worthy of further review.

In light of the Opinion, the County has drafted ballot titles more carefully to give it authority for the desired tax increases, ¹ and there is no evidence in the record that other jurisdictions were or are confused.

Accepting review would create uncertainty by giving the false impression that statutory mandates are unclear.

II. RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

1. Did the Prop. 1 ballot title satisfy RCW 84.55.050's

_

¹ The Court can take judicial notice of the fact that the County's recent levy lid lift for veterans, seniors, and vulnerable populations used a title that informed voters that "The first year levy amount would be the base for computing annual increases up to 3.5% for collection in 2019 through 2023." King County, Ballot measures — November 7 2017 General and Special Election, https://info.kingcounty.gov/kcelections/Vote/contests/ballotmeasures.aspx?cid=90068&groupname=County (last visited Feb. 12, 2018).

requirement that the ballot title "clearly" and "expressly state" that the 2013 levy amount would be used to compute subsequent levies, as a precondition to the County's admitted use of that methodology?

2. Did the Court of Appeals correctly hold that a taxpayer action to enforce the limitations of chapter 84.55 RCW is not a ballot title appeal, and a ballot title appeal is not a prerequisite to this lawsuit?

III. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE.

A. RCW 84.55.010 limits the amount of property tax levies, with particular rules for calculating limits after a "levy lid lift."

Under RCW 84.55.010, "The levy for a taxing district in any year must be set so that the regular property taxes payable in the following year [do] not exceed" the statutory limitation set forth in that section.

RCW 84.55.010 (emphasis added). Here, the County Council set the levy in 2014 and later years based upon an illegal methodology, causing the levy to exceed that permitted under RCW 84.55.010.

RCW 84.55.010 creates a two-step methodology for calculating the maximum levy that a jurisdiction can impose in any given year: First, it identifies the "base levy amount," which is the "amount of regular property taxes lawfully levied for such district in the highest of the three most recent years." RCW 84.55.010. Second, it increases the base levy with various multipliers – generally 1% plus an allowance for new

construction – to find the new levy limit (e.g., the maximum levy). *Id*. However, after a levy lid lift the base for later levy limits must be calculated pursuant to RCW 84.55.050(3), (4)(a), and (5).

B. In 2008, the Legislature passed emergency legislation to prohibit using the dollar amount of the "lifted" levy as the base for setting future levy limits.

From 1971 through 2008, after a "single-year" lid lift ended, the elevated collections during that year became the base for calculating later levies. *See* CP 334 (Laws of 1971, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 288, § 24); CP 361 (Laws of 2007, ch. 380 § 2) (*Appendices D and E*) ("After a levy authorized pursuant to this section is made, the dollar amount of such levy *shall be used* for the purpose of computing the limitations for subsequent levies ..." (emphasis added)).

Through that default methodology, a "single-year" lid lift actually authorized a permanent increase to the levy limit. A government could limit the period in which the levy limit was increased (and still can), but "[o]therwise, either a single-year or multi-year levy lid lift ... results in a 'permanently' adjusted levy lid." Op. Att'y Gen. No. 3 (2008).

In 2008, the Legislature passed an emergency act that completely changed the default rule for calculating levy limits after a lid lift by changing "shall" to "may not." The amendment could not have been clearer or more emphatic. The amendment read, in part, as follows:

- (3) After a levy authorized pursuant to this section is made, the dollar amount of such levy ((shall)) may not be used for the purpose of computing the limitations for subsequent levies provided for in this chapter, ((except as provided in subsection (5) of this section)) unless the ballot proposition expressly states that the levy made under this section will be used for this purpose.
- (4) If expressly stated, a proposition before the voters under subsection (1) or (2) of this section may:
- (a) <u>Use the dollar amount of a levy under subsection</u>
 (1) of this section, or the dollar amount of the final levy under subsection (2) of this section, for the purpose of computing the limitations for subsequent levies provided for in this chapter;

. . .

- (5) Except as otherwise ((provided)) expressly stated in an approved ballot measure under this section, ((after the expiration of a limited period under subsection (4)(a) of this section or the satisfaction of a limited purpose under subsection (4)(b) of this section, whichever comes first)) subsequent levies shall be computed as if:
 - (a) The ((limited)) proposition under ((subsection (4) of)) this section had not been approved ...

CP 362-64 (Laws of 2008, ch. 319) (revision marks in the original).

Because this methodology was made a "subsection (4) condition," it was subject to subsection (1), which provides:

The *ballot of the proposition* shall state the dollar rate proposed and *shall clearly state the conditions*, if any, which are applicable under subsection (4) of this section. (emphasis added)

RCW 84.55.050(1). Thus, the default rule specifically prohibits the County from using *actual* 2013 levy amount to calculate the levy limit in 2014 and later, absent proper disclosure in a voter-approved ballot title.

C. The County admits to using the prohibited methodology.

Based upon undisputed facts, the Opinion found that "the County's methodology for calculating taxes beginning in 2014 involved the use of the 2013 levy to 'comput[e] the limitations for subsequent levies' under RCW 84.55.050(3) and (4)(a)." *End Prison Indus. Complex v. King County*, 200 Wn. App. 616, 632 (2017). The County does not dispute this.

D. The County lacked legally required voter consent to use the prohibited methodology.

The Opinion recognized that under the "plain meaning" of RCW 84.55.050, the methodology used by the County was prohibited unless the approved ballot title "clearly" and "expressly" stated it would be used. Division II looked at the Prop. 1 ballot title and concluded that it did not contain the "clear" and "express" statement that the statute requires before the County can use the otherwise-prohibited methodology. *Id.* at 633.

If the County wanted to use the 2013 levy amount in calculating later years' levies, it knew how to draft an appropriate ballot title. Indeed, its proposed title in Ordinance 17304 contained the needed disclosure. *Id.* at n.9 (citing CP 85), and it could have been easily edited to the proper length without losing substance. *See Appendix F*. The County instead put a different ballot before voters, which omitted any reference to the use of the prohibited methodology.

Division II's Opinion simply told the County that the law is clear and the County must follow it. The Opinion did not calculate the extent of illegal tax collections and instead remanded to the trial court.²

IV. ARGUMENTS WHY KING COUNTY'S PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED.

A. The Court of Appeals correctly interpreted RCW 84.55.050 and a ruling that "the statute means what it says" is not worthy of Supreme Court review.

The Opinion used basic rules of statutory construction to confirm "RCW 84.55.050's plain meaning requires that Prop. 1's ballot title expressly state that the levies following 2013 would be calculated based on 2013's increased levy amount." 200 Wn. App. at 633.

Courts may not judicially repeal unambiguous requirements. *State v. Armendariz*, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110 (2007) ("If the plain language of the statute is unambiguous, then this court's inquiry is at an end.") Even if there were an ambiguity, which there is not, it would *not* support the County's illegal taxation. Where there is any question about the meaning of a tax statute, "the statute must be construed most strongly against the taxing power and in favor of the taxpayer." *Ski Acres v. Kittitas Cnty.*, 118 Wn.2d 852, 857, 827 P.2d 1000 (1992). Thus, additional review will not

8

² The Opinion does not nullify Prop.1, as the County argues. Prop. 1 properly authorized tax increases in 2013 and it can earmark additional tax increases for its project. But those increases must be calculated as set forth in RCW 84.55.050(5)(a) and (b), not using the prohibited methodology.

change the outcome.

1. RCW 84.55.050 plainly requires that the mandatory disclosures be in the ballot title.

The County's first argument is that the mandatory disclosure to voters does not need to be on the ballot, but instead can be provided in other places, such as in the Ordinance. Petition at 18. This is incorrect.

Previously, the County agreed that all of the disclosures must be in the ballot title. The County argued to Division II that "[t]he statute *does* require that the conditions applicable to the levy lid lift be expressly stated in the ballot title" and "[t]here is *no dispute* that the statutory requirement for a ballot title must be met by the ballot title itself." It argued that "[t]he ballot title either meets the requirements or it does not – that is a question for the court to decide as a matter of law."

The County specifically acknowledged that RCW 84.55.050(1) required subsection (4) conditions to be disclosed in the ballot title:

RCW 84.55.050(1) requires the ballot title to state the dollar rate proposed and to clearly state the condition, if any, which are applicable under RCW 84.55.050(4). The latter includes the period for which the increased levy is to be made and the levy's purpose.

CP 44 (emphasis added). See also CP 52 (conceding that disclosure is

9

³ Brief of Respondent, March 17, 2017, pages 24, 30 (emphasis added).

⁴ *Id.* at page 27 (emphasis added).

required in ballot title, but arguing that ballot title met standard)⁵

The County cannot completely change its position and now argue the statute is ambiguous and requires judicial construction. *Leppaluoto v. Eggleston*, 57 Wn.2d 393, 404, 357 P.2d 725 (1960) ("Appellant cannot be permitted to take an inconsistent position on appeal.").

The weakness of the County's new position is shown by its earlier concessions. The statute four times requires "clear" and express" disclosure to voters, and each of these passages use language that requires that the disclosure be in the *ballot title*, not some other document that few voters will read. Statements in a related ordinance or voters' pamphlet are insufficient under RCW 84.55.050's plain language.

a. "Ballot of the proposition" means the ballot, not the voter's pamphlet.

First, subsection (1) requires the mandatory disclosure be in "the ballot of the proposition," which clearly means ballot title. RCW 84.55.050(1) ("[t]he ballot of the proposition shall state the dollar rate proposed and shall clearly state the conditions, if any, which are applicable under subsection (4) of this section.") (emphasis added). This passage governs where voters must be provided with certain key information about the proposal, including the dollar rate and, if applicable,

-

⁵ County Motion for Summary Judgment, p. 9.

the "expressly stated" disclosure required under subsection 4(a).

The County's new argument to the contrary lacks merit. The County now argues that the Court should re-interpret the phrase "ballot of the proposition" to mean "both the ballot title and the proposition." Petition at 17. However, the word "of" is not ambiguous and is certainly not susceptible to being construed to mean "and"; the phrase is therefore not subject to judicial construction. Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d at 110.

The County's newfound argument for judicial construction is that because RCW 84.55.050 uses both the terms "ballot of the proposition" and "ballot title," "the Legislature necessarily intended these terms to have different meanings." Petition at 16. But the County fails to acknowledge that the term "ballot title" was not added to the statute until 2009, almost 40 years after the original statute was enacted requiring basic disclosure of "millage rate proposed" in the "ballot of the proposition." Thus, the different terms result from evolution of statutory language, not different legislative intent rendering the terms ambiguous.

Importantly, accepting the County's new argument would judicially repeal the statute's *only* requirement that the voters be told

⁶ Laws of 2009, ch. 551, § 3.

⁷ The sentence requiring certain disclosures in the "ballot of the proposition" is in the original 1971 act that first enacted the limit factor. (CP 334) (Laws of 1971, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 288, § 24). Later this disclosure requirement was amended to also require disclosure of "subsection (4) conditions," including the methodology disclosure at issue in this case.

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